# Pellet fuel

From Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia

Pellet fuels (or pellets) are biofuels made from compressed organic matter or biomass.[11] Pellets can be made from any one of five general categories of biomass: industrial waste and co-products, food waste, agricultural residues, energy crops, and virgin lumber. [2] Wood pellets are the most common type of pellet fuel and are generally made from compacted sawdust<sup>[3]</sup> and related industrial wastes from the milling of lumber, manufacture of wood products and furniture, and construction. Other industrial waste sources include empty fruit bunches, palm kernel shells, coconut shells, and tree tops and branches discarded during logging operations. [4][5] So-called "black pellets" are made of biomass, refined to resemble hard coal and were developed to be used in existing coal-fired power plants. [6] Pellets are categorized by their heating value, moisture and ash content, and dimensions. They can be used as fuels for power generation, commercial or residential heating, and cooking. [7] Pellets are extremely dense and can be produced with a low moisture content (below 10%) that allows them to be burned with a very high combustion efficiency. [8]

Further, their regular geometry and small size allow automatic feeding with very fine calibration. They can be fed to a burner by auger feeding or by pneumatic conveying. Their high density also permits compact storage and transport over long distance. They can be conveniently blown from a tanker to a storage bunker or silo on a customer's premises.<sup>[9]</sup>



Heating oil Wood pellet Kerosene Propane Natural gas Coal

A broad range of pellet stoves, central heating furnaces, and other heating appliances have been developed and marketed since the mid-1980s.[10] In 1997 fully automatic wood pellet boilers with similar comfort level as oil and gas boilers became available in Austria. [11] With the surge in the price of fossil fuels since 2005, the demand for pellet heating has increased in Europe and North America, and a sizable industry is emerging. According to the International Energy Agency Task 40, wood pellet production has more than doubled between 2006 and 2010 to over 14 million tons.[12] In a 2012 report, the Biomass Energy Resource Center says that it expects wood pellet production in North America to double again in the next five years.[13]

### **Contents**

- 1 Production
  - 1.1 Pellet standards
- 2 Pellet stove operation
- 3 Energy output and efficiency
- 4 Air pollution emissions
- 5 Global warming
- 6 Sustainability
- 7 Cost
- 8 Usage by region
  - 8.1 Europe
  - 8.2 New Zealand
- 8.3 United States 9 Other uses
- 9.1 Horse bedding
  - 9.2 Absorbents
- 10. See also
- 11 References
- 12 External links

### **Production**



Pellet truck being filled at a plant in Germany

Pellets are produced by compressing the wood material which has first passed through a hammer mill to provide a uniform dough-like mass. [14] This mass is fed to a press, where it is squeezed through a die having holes of the size required (normally 6 mm diameter, sometimes 8 mm or larger). The high pressure of the press causes the temperature of the wood to increase greatly, and the lignin plasticizes slightly, forming a natural "glue" that holds the pellet together as it cools.[8]

Pellets can be made from grass and other non-woody forms of biomass that do not contain lignin: distiller's dried grains (a brewing industry byproduct) can be added to provide the necessary durability.[15] A 2005 news story from Cornell University News suggested that grass pellet production was more advanced in Europe than North America. It suggested the benefits of grass as a feedstock included its short growing time (70 days), and ease of cultivation and processing. The story quoted Jerry Cherney, an agriculture professor at the school, stating that grasses produce 96% of the heat of wood and that "any mixture of grasses can be used, cut in mid- to late summer, left in the field to leach out minerals, then baled and pelleted. Drying of the hay is not required for pelleting, making the cost of processing less than with wood pelleting." [16] In 2012, the Department of Agriculture of Nova Scotia announced as a demonstration project conversion of an oil-fired boiler to grass pellets at a research facility.[17]

Rice-husk fuel-pellets are made by compacting rice-husk obtained as by-product of rice-growing from the fields. It also has similar characteristics to the wood-pellets and more environment-friendly, as the raw material is a waste-product. The energy content is about 4-4.2 kcal/kg and moisture content is typically less than 10%. The size of pellets is generally kept to be about 6mm diameter and 25mm length in the form of a cylinder; though larger cylinder or briquette forms are not uncommon. It is much cheaper than similar energy-pellets and can be compacted/manufactured from the husk at the farm itself, using cheap machinery. They generally are more environment-friendly as compared to wood-pellets. [18] In the regions of the world where wheat is the predominant food-crop, wheat husk can also be compacted to produce energy-pellets, with characteristics similar to rice-husk

A report by CORRIM (Consortium On Research on Renewable Industrial Material) for the Life-Cycle Inventory of Wood Pellet Manufacturing and Utilization estimates the energy required to dry, pelletize and transport pellets is less than 11% of the energy content of the pellets if using pre-dried industrial wood waste. If the pellets are made directly from forest material, it takes up to 18% of the energy to dry the wood and additional 8% for transportation and manufacturing energy. An environmental impact assessment of exported wood pellets by the Department of Chemical and Mineral Engineering, University of Bologna, Italy and the Clean Energy Research Centre, at the University of British Columbia, published in 2009, concluded that the energy consumed to ship Canadian wood pellets from Vancouver to Stockholm (15,500 km via the Panama Canal), is about 14% of the total energy content of the wood pellets. [19][20]

### Pellet standards

Pellets conforming to the norms commonly used in Europe (DIN 51731 or Ö-Norm M-7135) have less than 10% water content, are uniform in density (higher than 1 ton per cubic meter, thus it sinks in water)(bulk density about 0.6-0.7 ton per cubic meter), have good structural strength, and low dust and ash content. [7] Because the wood fibres are broken down by the hammer mill, there is virtually no difference in the finished pellets between different wood types. Pellets can be made from nearly any wood variety, provided the pellet press is equipped with good

1/4/2017 10:17 PM 1 of 4

instrumentation, the differences in feed material can be compensated for in the press regulation.. In Europe, the main production areas are located in south Scandinavia, Finland, Central Europe, Austria, and the Baltic countries. [21][22]

Pellets conforming to the European standards norms which contain recycled wood or outside contaminants are considered Class B pellets. [7] Recycled materials such as particle board, treated or painted wood, melamine resin-coated panels and the like are particularly unsuitable for use in pellets, since they may produce noxious emissions and uncontrolled variations in the burning characteristics of the pellets.

Standards used in the United States are different, developed by the Pellet Fuels Institute and, as in Europe, are not mandatory. Still, many manufacturers comply, as warranties of US-manufactured or imported combustion equipment may not cover damage by pellets non-conformant with regulations. Prices for US pellets surged during the fossil fuel price inflation of 2007–2008, but later dropped markedly and are generally lower on a per-BTU basis than most fossil fuels, excluding coal.

Regulatory agencies in Europe and North America are in the process of tightening the emissions standards for all forms of wood heat, including wood pellets and pellet stoves. These standards will become mandatory, with independently certified testing to ensure compliance. [23][24] In the United States, the new rules initiated in 2009 have completed the EPA regulatory review process, [25] with final new rules issued for comment on June 24, 2014. [26][27][28] The American Lumber Standard Committee will be the independent certification agency for the new pellet standards. [29]

## Pellet stove operation

There are three general types of pellet heating appliances, free standing pellet stoves, pellet stove inserts and pellet boilers. *Pellet stoves* "look like traditional wood stoves but operate more like a modern furnace. [Fuel, wood or other biomass pellets, is stored in a storage bin called a hopper. The hopper can be located on the top of the appliance, the side of it or remotely.] A mechanical auger [automatically feeds] the pellets into a burn pot, where they are incinerated at such a high temperature that they create no vent-clogging creosote and very little ash or emissions... "Heat-exchange tubes": Send air heated by fire into room... "Convection fan": Circulates air through heat-exchange tubes and into room... The biggest difference between a pellet stove and ... a woodstove, is that, inside, the pellet stove is a high-tech device with a circuit board, a thermostat, and fans—all of which work together to [regulate temperature and] heat your space efficiently." [30]

A pellet stove insert is a stove that is inserted into an existing masonry or prefabricated wood fireplace. See Fireplace insert

Pellet boilers are standalone central heating and hot water systems designed to replace traditional fossil fuel systems in residential, commercial and institutional applications. Automatic or auto-pellet boilers include silos for bulk storage of pellets, a fuel delivery system that moves the fuel from the silo to the hopper, a logic controller to regulate temperature across multiple heating zones and an automated ash removal system for long-term automated operations. [31]

Pellet baskets allow a person to heat their home using pellets in existing stoves or fireplaces.<sup>[32]</sup>

## **Energy output and efficiency**

The energy content of wood pellets is approximately  $4.7-5.2~\text{MWh/tonne}^{[33][34]}$  (~7450 BTU/lb).

High-efficiency wood pellet stoves and boilers have been developed in recent years, typically offering combustion efficiencies of over 85%. [35] The newest generation of wood pellet boilers can work in condensing mode and therefore achieve 12% higher efficiency values. [36] Wood pellet boilers have limited control over the rate and presence of combustion compared to liquid or gaseous-fired systems; however, for this reason they are better suited for hydronic heating systems due to the hydronic system's greater ability to store heat. Pellet burners capable of being retrofitted to oil-burning boilers are also available. [9]



# Air pollution emissions

Emissions such as  $NO_x$ ,  $SO_x$  and volatile organic compounds from pellet burning equipment are in general very low in comparison to other forms of combustion heating. A recognized problem is the emission of fine particulate matter to the air, especially in urban areas that have a high concentration of pellet heating systems or coal or oil heating systems in close proximity. This  $PM_{2.5}$  emissions of older pellet stoves and boilers can be problematic in close quarters, especially in comparison to natural gas (or renewable biogas), though on large installations electrostatic precipitators, cyclonic separators, or baghouse particle filters can control particulates when properly maintained and operated. [38]

### Global warming

There is uncertainty to what degree making heat or electricity by burning wood pellets contributes to global climate change, as well as how the impact on climate compares to the impact of using competing sources of heat. [8][39][40][41] Factors in the uncertainty include the wood source, carbon dioxide emissions from production and transport as well as from final combustion, and what time scale is appropriate for the consideration. [8][39][42]

A report<sup>[8]</sup> by the Manomet Center for Conservation Sciences, "Biomass Sustainability and Carbon Policy Study" issued in June 2010 for the Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources, concludes that burning biomass such as wood pellets or wood chips releases a large amount of CO2 into the air, creating a "carbon debt" that is not retired for 20–25 years and after which there is a net benefit.<sup>[8]</sup> In June 2011 the department was preparing to file its final regulation, expecting to significantly tighten controls on the use of biomass for energy, including wood pellets.<sup>[43]</sup> Biomass energy proponents have disputed the Manomet report's conclusions,<sup>[44][45]</sup> and scientists have pointed out oversights in the report, suggesting that climate impacts are worse than reported.<sup>[39][46]</sup>

Until ca. 2008 it was commonly assumed, even in scientific papers, that biomass energy (including from wood pellets) is carbon neutral, largely because regrowth of vegetation was believed to recapture and store the carbon that is emitted to the air. [47] Then, scientific papers studying the climate implications of biomass began to appear which refuted the simplistic assumption of its carbon neutrality. [42][48] According to the Biomass Energy Resource Center, the assumption of carbon neutrality "has shifted to a recognition that the carbon implications of biomass depend on how the fuel is harvested, from what forest types, what kinds of forest management are applied, and how biomass is used over time and across the landscape."[38]

In 2011 twelve prominent U.S. environmental organizations adopted policy setting a high bar for government incentives of biomass energy, including wood pellets. It states in part that, "[b]iomass sources and facilities qualifying for (government) incentives must result in lower life-cycle, cumulative and net GHG and ocean acidifying emissions, within 20 years and also over the longer term, than the energy sources they replace or compete with."<sup>[49]</sup>

## Sustainability

The wood products industry is concerned that if large-scale use of wood energy is instituted, the supply of raw materials for construction and manufacturing will be significantly curtailed.

[8][50]

### Cost

Due to the rapid increase in popularity since 2005, pellet availability and cost may be an issue. [51] This is an important consideration when buying a pellet stove, furnace, pellet baskets or

2 of 4 1/4/2017 10:17 PM

other devices known in the industry as Bradley Burners. [52] However, current pellet production is increasing and there are plans to bring several new pellet mills online in the US in 2008–2009. [53]

The cost of the pellets can be affected by the building cycle leading to fluctuations in the supply of sawdust and offcuts. [54]

Per the New Hampshire Office of Energy and Planning (http://www.nh.gov/oep/) release on Fuel Prices updated on 5 Oct 2015, the cost of #2 Fuel Oil delivered can be compared to the cost of Bulk Delivered Wood Fuel Pellets using their BTU equivalent: 1 ton pellets = 118.97 gallon of #2 Fuel Oil. This assumes that one ton of pellets produces 16,500,000 BTU and one gallon of #2 Fuel Oil produces 138,690 BTU. Thus if #2 Fuel Oil delivered costs \$1.90/Gal, the breakeven price for pellets is \$238.00/Ton delivered.

# Usage by region

#### Europe

Usage across Europe varies due to government regulations. In the Netherlands, Belgium, and the UK, pellets are used mainly in large-scale power plants. In Denmark and Sweden, pellets are used in large-scale power plants, medium-scale district heating systems, and small-scale residential heat. In Germany, Austria, Italy, and France, pellets are used mostly for small-scale residential and industrial heat.<sup>[55]</sup>

The UK has initiated a grant scheme called the Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) allowing non-domestic and domestic wood pellet boiler installations to receive payments over a period of between 7–20 years It is the first such scheme in the world and aims to increase the amount of renewable energy generated in the UK, in line with EU commitments. Scotland and Northern Ireland have separate but similar schemes. From Spring 2015, any biomass owners whether domestic or commercial must buy their fuels from BSL (Biomass Suppliers List) approved suppliers in order to receive RHI payments. [56]

Pellets are widely used in Sweden, the main pellet producer in Europe, [21] mainly as an alternative to oil-fired central heating. In Austria, the leading market for pellet central heating furnaces (relative to its population), it is estimated that 2/3 of all new domestic heating furnaces are pellet burners. In Italy, a large market for automatically fed pellet stoves has developed. Italy's main usage for pellets is small - scale private residential and industrial boilers for heating. [57]

In 2014 in Germany the overall wood pellet consumption per year comprised 2,2 mln tones. These pellets are consumed predominantly by residential small scale heating sector. The co-firing plants which use pellet sector for energy production are not widespread in the country. The largest amount of wood pellets is certified with DINplus and these are the pellets of the highest quality. As a rule, the pellets of lower quality are exported. [58]

EU Pellet Use (ton)[55]	
Country	2013
UK	4 540 000
Italy	3 300 000
Denmark	2 500 000
Netherlands	2 000 000
Sweden	1 650 000
Germany	1 600 000
Belgium	1 320 000

### **New Zealand**

The total sales of wood pellets in New Zealand was 3-5,000 tonnes in 2003. Recent construction of new wood pellet plants has given a huge increase in production capacity. [59]

#### **United States**

Some companies import European-made boilers. As of 2009, about 800,000 Americans were using wood pellets for heat. [37] It is estimated that 2.33 million tons of wood pellets will be used for heat in the US in 2013. [60] The US wood pellet export to Europe grew from 1.24 million ton in 2006 to 7 million ton in 2012, but forests grew even more. [61]

#### Other uses

#### Horse bedding

When small amounts of water are added to wood pellets, they expand and revert to sawdust. This makes them suitable to use as a horse bedding. The ease of storage and transportation are additional benefits over traditional bedding. However, some species of wood, including walnut, can be toxic to horses and should never be used for bedding. [62]

In Thailand, rice husk pellets are being produced for animal bedding. They have a high absorption rate which makes them ideal for the purpose. [63]

# Absorbents

Wood pellets are also used to absorb contaminated water when drilling oil or gas wells. [64]

#### See also

- Solid fuel
- Renewable heat
- Pellet mill
- Pellet stove
- Woodchips
- Firelog
- Biochar

### References

- 1. "Biomass Energy". Alternate Energy. Retrieved 16 February 2015.
- 2. "Sources of biomass". BIOMASS Energy Centre. Retrieved 16 February 2015.
- 3. "Organic Energy Ltd". Retrieved 25 November 2015.
- 4. "Use EFB Pellet as Renewable Energy". Biofuel Resource. Retrieved 16 February 2015.
- Wood Pellets from PKS & Coconut Shell. "Wood Pellets from PKS and Coconut Shell". Retrieved 13 January 2013.
- 6. "Pretty weird and awfully clever". News from Vattenfall. Retrieved 1 June 2015.
- 7. Alakangas, Eija (18 November 2009). "European pellet standards". Retrieved 16 February 2015. 8. Cardellichio, P.; et al. (2010). Walker, T., ed. "Massachusetts Biomass Sustainability and Carbon
- Cardellichio, P.; et al. (2010). Walker, T., ed. "Massachusetts Biomass Sustainability and Carbor Policy Study: Report to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources' (PDF). Natural Capital Initiative Report NCI-2010-03. Brunswick, Maine.: Manomet Center for Conservation Sciences. Retrieved 2014-03-14.
- "Wood Pellet Central-Heating Solution for Homeowners and Small Industry". MY WOOD PELLET SOLUTION. Retrieved 30 December 2011.
- 10. "Biography of Dr. Jerry Whitfield". 27 March 2014. Retrieved 16 February 2015.
- Turkel, Tux. "Maine Energy Systems finalizes deal with Austrian pellet-boiler company". Retrieved 31 March 2014.

- Cocchi, Maurizio (December 2011). "Global Wood Pellet Industry Market and Trade Study" (PDF). IEA Task 40. Retrieved 1 June 2012.
- Frederick, Paul. "2012 VT Wood Chip & Pellet Heating Conference" (PDF). Biomass Energy Resource Center. Retrieved 23 January 2012.
- 14. Fuller, Ron. "Pelleting Process" (PDF). University of Illinois. Retrieved 8 December 2011.
- Steelhammer, Rick. "A penchant for pellets". The Charleston Gazette. Retrieved 11 February 2012.
- 16. "Don't let grass grow under your feet -- burn it as economical, environmentally friendly biofuel, Cornell expert urges". Archived from the original on 2012-08-19. Retrieved 2015-06-14.
- 17. "Grass pellet heating system intended to provide new cash crop for farmers".
- 18. (http://www.vikaco.com/en/export-rice-husk-pellet/146-rice-husk-pellet-vietnam.html, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef201271b, http://www.tis-gdv.de/tis\_e/ware/futter/pellets/weizenkl/weizenkl.htm, http://factory.dhgate.com/agricultural-wastage/rice-husk-pellets-for-fuel-p40985821.html, http://www.chatdotcongnghiep.com/rice-husk-pallets, http://www.knowledgebank.irri.org/rkb/index.php/rice-milling/byproducts-and-their-utilization/rice-husk, http://fwci.com/publications/tech\_papers/files/TP\_CFB\_08\_05.pdf)
- 19. http://www.forgreenheat.org/blog/An%20environmental%20impact%20assessment%20of%20exported%20wood%20pellets%

- 20. http://www.corrim.org/pubs/articles/2012/FPJ\_vol62\_num04/06\_FPJ-vol62-num04-2012.pdf
- 21. Selkimäki M., Mola-Yudego, B., Röser D, Prinz R, Sikanen L. (2010). "Present and future trends in pellet markets, raw materials, and supply logistics in Sweden and Finland". Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews (PDF). 14 (9): 3068-3075. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2010.06.009.
- 22. Mola-Yudego, B.; Selkimäki M., González-Olabarria J. R. (2013). "Spatial analysis of the wood pellet production for energy in Europe". Renewable Energy (PDF) doi:10.1016/i.renene.2013.08.034.
- "Advancement of pellets-related European standards". WIP Renewable Energies. Archived from the original on April 26, 2012. Retrieved 11 December 2011.
- 24. "Revision of New Source Performance Standards for New Residential Wood Heaters". US EPA. 2011-10-26. Retrieved 2 January 2012.
- 25. "Revision of New Source Performance Standards for New Residential Wood Heaters". US EPA. Retrieved 2 February 2014.
- 26. "Revised NSPS for New Residential Wood Heaters". regulations.gov. Retrieved 11 October 2014.
- 27. "PFI Standards Program". Pellet Fuels Institute. Retrieved 21 December 2014.
- 28. Standards of Performance for New Residential Wood Heaters (http://www.epa.gov/residentialwood-heaters/proposed-new-source-performance-standards-residential-wood-heaters)
- 29. Jacobs, Scott. "PFI Standards Program Major Developments". Pellet Fuels Institute. Retrieved 2 January 2012.
- 30. Morell, J.; Hill, K. (2012). All About Pellet Stoves. This Old House Magazine. [1] (http://www.thisoldhouse.com/toh/photos/0,,20654453,00.html) Retrieved 16 February 2015
- "Wood Pellet Central Heating Systems".
- 32. Donegan, Fran J. "Get More Heat from Your Fireplace and Wood Stove". This Old House. Retrieved 29 October 2012.
- 33. "Fuel prices per kWh (excluding VAT)"
- 34. Sherman, Adam (16 January 2012). "Pellet Fuel Quality, Delivery, and Storage" (PDF). 2012 Vermont Woodchip and Pellet Heating Conference. Biomass Energy Resource Center. Retrieved 23 January 2012. "PFI min std is 8000 BTU/lb => 5.2 MWh/t"
- "The Case for Pellets" (PDF). 2012 VT Wood Chip & Pellet Heating Conference. Retrieved 23 January 2012.
- 36. "Okofen condesing pellet boiler".
- 37. "Buyer's guide to pellet- and wood-burning stoves The pros, cons and costs vs. natural gas, oil, and coal". Consumer Reports. August 2009. Retrieved 8 December 2011.
- 38. "BERC at 10 Years & 2011 Annual Report" (PDF). Biomass Energy Resource Center. Retrieved 23 January 2012.
- 39. Booth M (2010). Review of the Manomet Biomass Sustainability and Carbon Policy Study. Report for the Clean Air Task Force. [2] (http://www.catf.us/resources/whitepapers/files/201007-Review\_of\_the\_Manomet\_Biomass\_Sustainability\_and\_Carbon\_Policy\_Study.pdf)
- 40. Lippke, . et al. 2011. Life cycle impacts of forest management and wood utilization on carbon mitigation: knowns and unknowns. [3] (http://www.corrim.org/pubs/articles /2011/FSG\_Review\_Carbon\_Synthesis.pdf)
- 41. McDermott, Matthew (2009-04-14). "Biomass Can Only Offer Major Emission Reductions if Best Practices Are Followed, New UK Report Says". Treehugger.com. Retrieved 2009-05-16.

- 42. Johnson, E. (2009). Goodbye to carbon neutral: Getting biomass footprints right. Environmental Impact Assessment Review (29:3, p.165-168). [4] (http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve /pii/S0195925508001637)
- 43. [5] (http://www.biofuelmachines.com/Download/complete-guide-on-wood-pellet-production.pdf)
- $44.\ http://www.futuremetrics.net/papers/Manomet \% 20 Got \% 20 it \% 20 Backwards.pdf$
- 45. http://www.futuremetrics.net/papers/Response%20to%20Manomet%20Comments.pdf
- Moomaw, W. 2011. Should we get our electricity by burning trees? Presentation at Williams College. [6] (http://sustainability.williams.edu/files/2011/02/BillMoomaw-Biomass.pdf)
- 47. http://www.dovetailinc.org/files/DovetailLCABioenergy0711.pdf
- 48. Magelli, F.; Boucher, K.; Bi, H.; Melin, S.; Bonoli, A. (2009). An environmental impact assessment of exported wood pellets from Canada to Europe. Biomass and Bioenergy (33:3, p.434-441). [7] (http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V22-4TT1G1X-2/2/51c9e5b7a7055acfc24bcd001116bf56)
- Principles of Sustainable Biomass; policy of 12 large U.S. environmental organizations. [8] (http://wilderness.org/files/BIOENERGY-COMMUNITY-BIOMASS-DEFINITION-PRINCIPLES.pdf), retrieved from The Wilderness Society website, 27 August 2011.
- 50. Large-scale biomass 'risks UK jobs and carbon emissions.' Carbon Offsets Daily, 2 July 2010. [9] (http://www.carbonoffsetsdaily.com/news-channels/uk-carbonmarketnews/large-scalebiomass-'risks-uk-jobs-and-carbon-emissions'-40081.htm)
- 51. "Wood Pellet Fuel Production".
- 52. "The Bradley Burner
- 53. http://www.fpl.fs.fed.us/documnts/fplrp/fpl\_rp656.pdf
- 54. "Development and promotion of a transparent European Pellets Market Creation of a European real-time Pellets Atlas" (PDF). http://www.liverpoolwoodpellets.co.uk. Pellets @las. Retrieved 2015-06-26. External link in |website= (help)
- 55. "Main pellet consumers in Europe". IHB. September 2, 2013. Retrieved 14 September 2013.
- 56. Editor, Energy News (June 30, 2014). "Forest Fuels Secures Biomass Suppliers List Registration". OilFired Up. RuralEnergyNews.co.uk. Retrieved 2014-12-28
- "Main pellet consumers in Europe". IHB. Fordaq S.A. 3 September 2013.
- 58. "The Industrial Pellet Market in Germany". GBP. German Biofuel Portal. 3 March 2016.
- 59. Nielsen, S; George A. Estcourt; Carolyn J. Hodgson (October 2004). "New Bioenergy options for New Zealand - an evaluation of wood pellet opportunities" (PDF). Forest Research. Archived from the original (PDF) on 2008-10-14. Retrieved 2008-10-17.

  60. Retka Schill, Sue (July 31, 2013). "PFI conference: Continued growth expected in pellet market".
- Biomass Magazine. Retrieved 16 September 2013.
- 61. http://www.aebiom.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/DG-ENVI-study-imports-from-US-Finalreport-July-2016.pdf
- 62. Hooser, DVM PhD, Stephen B. (Jan 2005). "Laminitis Caused by Black Walnut Wood Residues" (PDF). Purdue University. Retrieved 20 October 2012. "Because of the possible severe consequences of poisoning, stall bedding for horses should never contain black walnut wood."
- 63. http://www.globalbioltd.com
- 64. Tulley, Reid (March 19, 2013). "Confluence Energy acquires Rocky Mountain Pellet Company in Walden". Sky-Hi News. Retrieved 4 February 2015.

### External links

- European Biomass Association (http://www.aebiom.org/)
- Pellet Fuels Institute (http://www.pelletheat.org/)
- Biomass Energy (http://biomassenergy.gr/en/articles/pellets/4909-technology)

Retrieved from "https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Pellet\_fuel&oldid=747178811"

Categories: Wood fuel | Bioenergy

- This page was last modified on 31 October 2016, at 21:54.
- Text is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike License; additional terms may apply. By using this site, you agree to the Terms of Use and Privacy Policy. Wikipedia® is a registered trademark of the Wikimedia Foundation, Inc., a non-profit organization.

1/4/2017 10:17 PM 4 of 4